FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/6/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## No. 85300-7-I

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 2/5/2025 4:11 PM

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Case #: 1038526

ALEA C. WHORTON,

Plaintiffs/Respondents

v.

FRAN REST, LLC D/B/A SUBWAY, et al.,

Defendant/Appellant,

## PETITION FOR REVIEW OF APPELLANT FRAN REST, LLC D/B/A SUBWAY, ET AL.,

CATHARINE M. MORISSET, WSBA # 29682 JEREMY F. WOOD, WSBA # 51803 Fisher & Phillips LLP 1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101 Tel. (206) 682-2308 Fax (206) 682-7908 Attorneys for Appellant Fran Rest, LLC d/b/a Subway

## **

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Fran Rest, LLC dba Subway ("Fran Rest") was a franchiser, operating Subway restaurants in Washington State. It briefly employed Alea C. Whorton ("Whorton"), who sought to assert unpaid meal and rest break claims on her own behalf and for a putative class. Fran Rest was the Defendant in the Trial Court and Appellant before the Court of Appeals.

#### **II. DECISION BELOW**

Fran Rest seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in *Whorton v. Fran Rest, LLC DBA Subway et al.*, No. 85300-7-I, entered January 6, 2025, which failed to enforce the parties' arbitration agreement ("Agreement"). The opinion included a dissent.

### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- Did the Court of Appeals err when it failed to apply the longsettled presumption favoring arbitration when it interpreted the Agreement? *Yes.*
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it held that Whorton's unpaid break claims did not "touch" or relate to her Agreement, even though the Court recognized that Agreement referenced her employment, and unpaid claims under the Minimum Wage Act could not have existed unless Whorton had not entered into the Agreement as a condition of her employment? *Yes.*

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Court of Appeals accurately stated the facts, and thus Fran Rest

adopts them here:

In April 2021, Whorton applied for a job as a sandwich artist at a Subway restaurant in Marysville. The restaurant is owned and operated by Fran Rest. On April 27, 2021, Fran Rest e-mailed Whorton a conditional offer of employment. The e-mail contained a link to the "Subway Employee Handbook" (Handbook) and a "Team Member Acknowledgement" (TMA). The e-mail conditioned employment on "completion of the necessary online paperwork and tasks" and "attendance on the first day of work."

The Handbook is a 17-page document that contains a section on "rest and meal periods" on page 11. The section explains that all team members who work 5 or more hours in a single shift "are provided an unpaid meal period of at least 30 uninterrupted minutes." And it says that team members will receive intermittent rest periods "equal to 10 minutes during each [4] hours of work."

The two-page TMA provides, in pertinent part:

This SUBWAY Store Policies Handbook provides you with a basic understanding of the culture, organization, policies and practices of SUBWAY. Your signed acknowledgment confirms that you have reviewed, understand, and agree with the statements listed below:

• I have read and understand the . . . Handbook and all information provided in my New Team Member Orientation training.

• I understand that this [H]andbook supersedes any prior written or oral communications regarding my working conditions and benefits, including any prior Team Member Handbooks. • I understand that this [H]andbook is not an employment contract or the complete statement of SUBWAY.

. . . .

• I understand that team members of SUBWAY are hired and employed on an at-will basis. I am free to resign at any time and SUBWAY can terminate me, for cause or without cause, with or without notice, for any reason not prohibited by law.

• I understand that, other than the President/[Chief Executive Officer], no SUBWAY representative has the authority to enter into any agreement for employment for a specific period of time or to make any agreement modifying in any manner, any team member's at-will status.

• I understand that if I do not give two weeks['] notice in writing in advance of leaving my position, my pay rate will be reduced to minimum wage.

• All claims and disputes arising under or relating to this [TMA] are to be settled by binding arbitration in the State of Washington or another location mutually agreeable to the parties.

#### Whorton signed the TMA on April 28, 2021.

On August 6, 2022, Whorton terminated her employment with Fran Rest. Then, on September 14, 2022, she sued the company. Her "Class Action Complaint for Unpaid and Wrongfully Withheld Wages" alleges that Fran Rest engaged in "a systematic scheme of wage and hour violations" against current and former hourly paid employees by failing to provide statutory 10-minute rest periods and 30-minute meal periods. She alleged an implied cause of action under the industrial welfare act, chapter 49.12 RCW, for failure to compensate for missed meals and rest periods and sought double damages under RCW 49.52.050 and .070.

On February 24, 2023, Fran Rest moved to compel arbitration of Whorton's claims and stay her lawsuit. Fran Rest argued that the arbitration clause in the TMA encompassed Whorton's statutory wage claims. It alleged that the language "[a]ll claims and disputes arising under or related to this [TMA]" is so broad that it includes "claims related to the Handbook that [Whorton] affirmed she had read and understood, as well as to her employment generally." In her response, Whorton agreed that she relinquished her right to a judicial forum for disputes arising out of or related to the TMA. But she disagreed that the language was so broad as to encompass terms of the Handbook.

The trial court heard the dispute on April 14, 2023. On April 25, the court issued an "Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings." It explained that the arbitration clause in the TMA encompasses all claims and disputes arising under or "relating to this Agreement," which can be reasonably interpreted to refer to only "the Team Member Acknowledgement and the bullet points therein." So, "[b]y its own terms," the arbitration clause in the TMA does not encompass Whorton's wage and hour claims.

Whorton v. Fran Rest dba Subway et al., No. 85300-7-I, 2025 WL 33367, at \*1 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 6, 2025) (emphasis added).

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews decisions from the Court of Appeals when "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or . . . the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). The requirements of this rule are clearly met here.

As explained below, the Majority of the Court of Appeals failed to follow both this Court's precedent and its own, urging further review. Indeed, in a Dissent longer than the Majority Opinion, Judge Diaz noted that "[i]f the parties appeal this matter further and our Supreme Court grants review, this matter presents an opportunity to clarify the scope of Washington's public policy in favor of arbitration." *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*5 (dissent). This Court should accept Judge Diaz's invitation.

## **B.** Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted.

As explained below, the Majority of the Court of Appeals failed to follow both this Court's precedent and its own, urging further review. Indeed, in a Dissent longer than the Majority Opinion, Judge Diaz noted that "[i]f the parties appeal this matter further and our Supreme Court grants review, this matter presents an opportunity to clarify the scope of Washington's public policy in favor of arbitration." *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*5 (dissent). This Court should accept Judge Diaz's invitation.

1. The Court of Appeals essentially overruled Washington's public policy preference for arbitration when it failed to apply it.

As Judge Diaz's Dissent emphasized, this Court has consistently recognized Washington's "strong public policy favoring arbitration." *Burnett v. Pagliacci Pizza Inc.*, 196 Wn.2d 38, 48 (2020) (quoting *Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 810 (2009)). Given this policy, Washington courts are directed to "indulge *every* presumption in favor of arbitration." *Verbeek Props., LLC v. GreenCo Envtl., Inc.*, 159 Wn. App. 82, 87 (2010) (emphasis added in conformance with Judge Diaz's dissent). When "doubts or questions arise with respect to the scope of the arbitration agreement, the agreement is construed in favor of arbitration unless the reviewing court is satisfied the agreement *cannot* be interpreted to cover a particular dispute." *Mendez v. Palm Harbor Homes, Inc.*, 111 Wn. App. 446, 456 (2002) (emphasis added in conformance with Judge Diaz's dissent). Indeed, "the claims in the complaint need only 'touch matters' covered by the agreement containing the arbitration provision." *Wiese v. Cach, LLC*, 189 Wn. App. 466, 477 (2015) (internal quotations omitted). As Judge Diaz noted, "the presumption of arbitration is an extant principle of contract interpretation," regardless of whether the Federal or Washington arbitrations acts apply. *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*6 n. 3.

The Court of Appeals' Majority acknowledged this presumption but suggested it was dead and failed to apply it. This was clear error.

First, the Majority took it upon itself, by *footnote*, to end the *federal* presumption favoring arbitration. *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*2 n. 3. This was wrong. In the case the Majority cited, *Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, the United States Supreme Court held only that "a court must hold a party to its arbitration contract just as the court would to any other kind. But a court may not devise novel rules to favor arbitration over litigation." 596 U.S.

411, 418 (2022). The high court did not alter how this presumption affects the *interpretation* of arbitration agreements. Instead, it "consider[ed] *only* the next step in their reasoning: that [lower courts] may create arbitration-specific variants of federal procedural rules, like those concerning waiver, based on the FAA's "policy favoring arbitration."" *Id.* (emphasis added) (quoting *Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983)).

Thus, when the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals followed *Morgan* in *Armstrong v. Michaels Stores, Inc.*, it did not alter the presumption's effect on contractual interpretation. 59 F.4th 1011, 1014 (9th Cir. 2023). The Ninth Circuit acknowledged that before *Morgan*, "to give voice to the FAA's "policy favoring enforcement of arbitration agreements," we held that waiver of the right to arbitration was disfavored." *Id.* (citation omitted). But the outcome was not to disfavor arbitration; rather, the court did what *Morgan* had directed when it held that the burden to show waiver of a right to arbitration is no higher than the burden to show waiver of any other contractual right. "Put differently, the pro-arbitration federal policy is "to make 'arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so.' " *Id.* (quotation omitted).

The Court of Appeals got the test exactly right in *Raab v. Nu Skin* Enterprises, Inc., 28 Wn. App. 2d 365, 385 (2023), review granted, 2

Wash.3d 1022 (Wash. 2024), when it reversed the trial court's determination that the arbitration agreement did not apply, noting "a strong public policy favoring arbitration is recognized under **both** federal and Washington law.' "*Id.* (citing *Burnett*, 196 Wn.2d at 48) (emphasis added). That opinion notably was issued *after Armstrong* recognized the ongoing force and vitality of the federal presumption favoring arbitration. The Majority's decision thus conflicts with its own published opinion.

In sum, the Majority decided sua sponte – and in conflict with its own opinion - to expand a United States Supreme Court holding beyond the explicit limitations that the same Court expressly set out in its holding. The Majority also erred in failing to apply *Washington*'s strong public policy presumption in favor of arbitration, even while agreeing that "whether the holding in *Morgan* applies to the [Washington Arbitration Act] is unresolved."<sup>1</sup> *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*2 n. 3. As the Dissent made plain, Washington's presumption stands on its own legs, rather than those borrowed from federal law alone.

The case law is clear. Washington courts have recognized a strong policy in favor of arbitration for half a century. *King County v. Boeing Co.*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Admittedly, the Majority stated that "the TMA does not bind Whorton to arbitrate her wage claims even applying Washington's strong presumption in favor of arbitration." *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*2 n. 3. But as the Dissent recognized, that presumption played no part in the Majority's analysis.

18 Wn. App. 595, 602-03 (1977). The Court in *Boeing Co.* rooted this presumption not only in federal precedent, but also on its own policy wisdom and the example of several sister states. *Id.* It thus held that arbitration furthers Washington's public policy by "easing court congestion and providing a method more expeditious and less expensive for the resolution of disputes." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). More recently, the Court of Appeals reaffirmed these views in explaining that "arbitration [is] an expeditious means of resolving conflicts without involving the courts." *Morrell v. Wedbush Morgan Sec. Inc.*, 143 Wn. App. 473, 480 (2008).

These practical concerns regarding overuse of the courts have not changed. They have nothing to do with the decision in *Morgan*. Thus, for example, the California Court of Appeals held that *Morgan* did not apply to state law cases which "concern[ed] *state* statutory rights and law, rather than rights asserted under federal law." *Desert Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Miller*, 87 Cal App. 5th 295, 322 (2022). Or as Judge Diaz explained in his Dissent: "In other words, Washington's long-held policy favoring arbitration is not solely derived from or dependent upon federal authority." *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*5 (dissent).

Although the Majority gave lip service to the continuing vitality of the presumption favoring arbitration, it never applied it. It never explained that any ambiguity should be construed to favor arbitration. It instead invented new interpretive principles under which an arbitration agreement must not only "touch" on the lawsuit's subject, but also describe it at length and in detail. As the Dissent criticized, the Majority essentially held "if Fran Rest intended to arbitrate each aspect of her employment arrangement, Fran Rest should have been more explicit." *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*9. In general, and as explained below, it interpreted the TMA has narrowly as possible to disfavor arbitration.

The Majority appears to have confused the indisputable requirement to show the parties consented to arbitration with the question of how to interpret the scope of that consent. Or, as the Dissent put it, "the issue before us is not 'whether' the parties have agreed to arbitrate an issue, but *what* the parties have agreed to arbitrate in the TMA." *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*7 (dissent). (internal citations omitted and emphasis in the original). Thus, the Majority mistakenly concluded that "while a strong public policy favoring arbitration is recognized under bother federal and Washington law, 'arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which [she] has not agreed to submit."" *Id.* at \*2 (quoting *Satomi Owns Ass 'n*, 167 Wn.2d at 810). That is certainly true. But once the parties agreed to the language in the TMA, the Court had to apply the presumption favoring arbitration to interpret that language. It could not subsume the issue of contractual interpretation under an expansive umbrella of consent. The Majority's error - failing to apply the presumption favoring arbitration -- distorted its interpretation of the TMA and thus requires this Court's review.

# 2. The Majority's failure to apply the presumption favoring arbitration led it to err in interpreting the TMA.

By not applying the presumption favoring arbitration, the Majority failed to give the TMA's language the interpretation case law compels. That is, it failed to construe *anything* in favor of arbitration. The Dissent correctly concluded that the Majority's contract interpretation was wrong for two reasons.

First, the Majority failed to interpret the terms "arising out of" or "relating to" in accordance with case law, even though it acknowledged that it must interpret the phrases "arising under" and "relating to" broadly. Whorton, 2025 WL 33367, at \*3 (citing *David Terry Inv., LLC-PRC v. Headwaters Dev. Grp. Ltd. Liab. Co.,* 13 Wn. App. 2d 159, 167 (2020)). Despite citing *David Terry*, as the Dissent explained, the Majority overlooked that the reason "arising out of" and "relating to" in an arbitration clause 'should be construed broadly," was "because 'Washington has a strong policy favoring arbitration." *Whorton*, 2025 WL 33367, at \*7 (dissent). The Dissent read these phrases as case law mandates.

The parties had agreed to arbitrate "[a]ll claims and disputes arising under or relating this [TMA]." The TMA covered the employment relationship. Whorton, a former employee, brought wage claims for unpaid meal and rest breaks under Washington law. Such claims, as the Dissent properly explained, all touched upon the arbitration provision just quoted:

Specifically, the TMA's first four bullets all discuss the Handbook, which the majority accurately describes as a 17-page document containing a section on 'rest and meal periods' on page 11. The first bullet of the TMA states the signor has 'read and understand[s]' the Handbook. And the second bullet expressly references the Handbook's description of Whorton's 'working conditions and benefits.' The ninth and tenth bullets refer to ways in which Whorton's wages may be reduced."

Whorton, 2025 WL 33367, at \*8 (dissent).

Overall, Judge Diaz correctly concluded:

[T]he TMA intends to define Whorton's employment relationship and, by repeatedly referencing the Handbook, to provide Whorton "a basic understanding of the culture, organization, policies, and practices of SUBWAY." When read broadly, this intent encompasses her working conditions and wages and, thus, " 'touch' " on matters related to her dispute. *Wiese*, 189 Wn. App. at 477 (quoting Simula, 175 F.3d at 721).

Id. at \*9 (dissent) (emphasis added). He added that by "interpreting the term

'relating to' broadly, as we must, I would conclude the conditions and wage

claims in the complaint at a minimum 'touch' on matters covered by the

TMA." *Id*.

But the Majority failed to apply the presumption favoring arbitration when it construed the contract. While it recognized that the TMA *did* touch upon Ms. Whorton's familiarity with the Handbook, her status as an at-will

employee, and Fran Rest's ability to reduce her pay rate, it oddly concluded that her "wage claims have no logical connection to any term in the TMA." Id. at \*3. The Majority should have held that these touchpoints were enough, which would have been consistent with David Terry or the broader presumption favoring arbitration. Instead, the Majority held that the TMA would cover Ms. Whorton's claims only if it expressly "define[d] Whorton's compensation, benefits, or the company's rest and meal policies." Whorton, 2025 WL 33367, at \*4. Because there was nothing so explicit, the Majority found that her unpaid wage claims had no connection to the TMA. In doing so, the Majority did not even try to interpret the phrase "relating to" independently of "arising under." This was error given its own precedent that "[a]n arbitration clause which encompasses any controversy 'relating to' a contract is broader than language covering only claims 'arising out' of a contract." McClure v. Davis Wright Tremaine, 77 Wn. App. 312, 314–15 (1995) ("relating to" is sufficiently broad to include tort claims outside the relevant contract duty). The Dissent correctly commented that in its analysis, "the [M]ajority presents an overly circumscribed view of the TMA, contrary to caselaw which directs us to read its terms broadly." Whorton, 2025 WL 33367, at \*5 (dissent).

Second, the Majority erred in applying the Ninth Circuit's decision in Yei A. Sun v. Advanced China Healthcare, Inc., 901 F.3d 1081, 1086 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2018). In that case, the Court held that "the dispute need not grow out of the contract or require interpretation of the contract in order to relate to the contract." *Id.* So "clauses covering disputes 'relating to' a particular agreement apply to *any* disputes that reference the agreement *or* have some 'logical or causal connection' to the agreement." *Id.* (emphasis added; internal quotations omitted). Importantly, the Majority overlooked that an agreement obviously has a logical or causal connection with a dispute when the dispute "could not have been made without the agreement." *Id.* at 1086-87 (internal quotations omitted).

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