FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/7/2025 12:03 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 1038526

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALEA C. WHORTON,

Respondent/Plaintiff,

v.

FRAN REST, LLC D/B/A SUBWAY, et al.,

Appellant/Defendant

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian W. Denlinger, WSBA No. 53177 Craig J. Ackermann, WSBA No. 53330 ACKERMANN & TILAJEF, P.C. 2602 North Proctor Street, #205 Tacoma, WA 98406

Telephone: (253) 625-7720 Facsimile: (310) 277-0635 bd@ackermanntilajef.com cja@ackermanntilajef.com

Attorneys for Respondent/Plaintiff Alea C. Whorton

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

Respondent/Plaintiff Alea C. Whorton ("Whorton") did agree to arbitrate disputes related to the TMA and the bullet points contained therein—the arbitration agreement at issue does not encompass Whorton's unpaid meal and rest period claims, which are claims Whorton never agreed to arbitrate.

Since the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and because the Court of Appeals' decision is in accord with this Court's holding that "the waiver of a judicial forum via an arbitration provision must be explicitly presented to the employee and the employee must explicitly agree to waive the specific right in question" (*Burnett v. Pagliacci Pizza, Inc.*, 196 Wn.2d 38, 51 n.3 (Wash. 2020)), Whorton respectfully requests that this Court deny Fran Rest's Petition for discretionary review.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Whorton generally agrees with Fran Rest that the "Court of Appeals accurately stated the facts...." See Petition, at 2

(adopting the Court of Appeals' "Facts" section). While Whorton also adopts the Court of Appeals' "Facts" section (see Opinion Affirming Denial, at 1-4), the following facts and procedural history are also relevant to the issues presented for review.

First, while the Court of Appeals' Opinion Affirming Denial included in its "Facts" section some of the terms contained within the two-page TMA, including the arbitration clause at issue (see Opinion Affirming Denial, at 2-3), the following terms were also included as bullet-points in the TMA:

• I understand that SUBWAY has the right to add, change, delete, or interpret any of the provisions contained in the Team Member handbook at any time, with or without notice, and that regardless of date or hire, all team members are subject to updates.

. . . .

• I agree that in case of financial damage caused by my actions, whether by theft or other deliberate damage, that my

While RAP 13.4(c)(9) requires a petition for review to include an "appendix containing a copy of the Court of Appeals decision[,]" Fran Rest's Petition did not include the Court of Appeals' decision. Accordingly, this Answer to Petition for Review ("Answer") includes a copy of the Court of Appeals' opinion affirming the trial court's denial of Fran Rest's motion to compel arbitration (hereinafter, "Opinion Affirming Denial"), which is attached hereto as Appendix A.

wages will be deducted to compensate for the financial loss. Clerks Papers ("CP") at 54.

Second, the Court of Appeals' Opinion Affirming Denial correctly noted that the trial court issued an "Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings" (hereinafter, "Order Denying MTC") which explained that:

[T]he arbitration clause in the TMA encompasses all claims and disputes arising under or "relating to this Agreement," which can be reasonably interpreted to refer to only "the Team Member Acknowledgement and the bullet points therein." So, "[b]y its own terms," the arbitration clause in the TMA does not encompass Whorton's wage and hour claims."

Opinion Affirming Denial, at 4.

Notably, the trial court's Order Denying MTC also recognized that "[A] strong public policy favoring arbitration is recognized under both federal and Washington law." CP at 163 (citing *Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 810 (2009)). Despite recognizing this strong public policy favoring

arbitration, the trial court's Order Denying MTC also recognized that "Nonetheless, '[A]rbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute that he has not agreed to so submit." *Id.* (citing *Burnett*, 196 Wn.2d at 51 n.3).

III. ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Standard Of Review.

This Court accepts review only on limited grounds. *See* RAP 13.4(b). Fran Rest argues that the challenged decision is reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2). Petition, at 4-5. However, review under subsections (b)(1) or (b)(2) are inapplicable here because the challenged Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decisions of this Court or with any published decision of the Court of Appeals. Rather, Division One's decision was a routine application of established law and as such does not justify the extraordinary step of review by this Court.

B. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Is Well-Reasoned And Does Not Conflict With Any Decision Of This Court

Or Any Published Decision Of The Court of Appeals.

Fran Rest fails to demonstrate that Division One's Opinion
Affirming Denial conflicts with any decision of this Court or
with any published decision of the Court of Appeals regarding
Washington's public policy preference for arbitration.

Fran Rest's Petition cites to, among other Washington cases, *Burnett v. Pagliacci Pizza, Inc.*, where this Court recognized Washington's "strong public policy favoring arbitration...." See Petition, at 5. However, Fran Rest's quotation of *Burnett* is out of context, and its use of a selective portion of this Court's *Burnett* opinion is misleading since the Court actually recognized, in full context, the following:

While a strong public policy favoring arbitration is recognized under both federal and Washington law, arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit.

Burnett, 196 Wn.2d at 48 (citing Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, 167 Wn.2d 781, 810 (2009)) (internal quotations and citations omitted). In *Burnett*, this Court further held that "the waiver of a

judicial forum via an arbitration provision must be explicitly presented to the employee and the employee must explicitly agree to waive the specific right in question." *Id.* at 51 n.3 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Significantly, while Fran Rest asserts throughout its Petition that the Court of Appeals "failed" to apply or follow Washington's presumption favoring arbitration and that it "essentially" overruled the same, the Majority explicitly stated that the dissent's suggestion that they did "not apply the presumption of arbitrability in our analysis . . . misconstrues our ruling." Opinion Affirming Denial, at 6 n.3. The Majority went on to state the following: "To be clear, we conclude that the TMA does not bind Whorton to arbitrate her wage claims even applying Washington's strong presumption in favor of arbitration." *Id*.

1) The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that the Arbitration Agreement does not Encompass Whorton's Wage Claims

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Fran Rest's

argument that the TMA encompasses any and all claims related to Whorton's employment. As noted by the Court of Appeals, "[a]rbitration is a matter of consent[,]" and "[a]s with any contractual dispute, the parties' intentions control." Opinion Affirming Denial, at 4-5 (citing Romney v. Franciscan Med. *Grp.*, 199 Wn. App. 589, 598 (2017)). The Court of Appeals also recognized that, in discerning the parties' intent, courts "give words in the agreement their 'ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless a contrary intent is shown from the entirety of the agreement." Id. at 5 (citing Condon v. Condon, 177 Wn.2d 150, 162-63 (2013)). "The general rule is that whether and what the parties have agreed to arbitrate is an issue for the courts to decide...." Tacoma Narrows Constructors v. Nippon-Steel *Kawada Bridge, Inc.*, 138 Wn. App. 203, 213-14 (2007). *See also* Granite Rock Co. v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, 561 U.S. 287, 297 (2010) ("a court may order arbitration of a particular dispute only where the court is satisfied that the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute.") (emphasis in original).

Here, on its face, the arbitration clause—which is contained in a single bullet-point within the TMA—does not encompass employment disputes, including the wage-and-hour claims at issue here. See CP at 54. Rather, the arbitration clause provides that: "Your signed acknowledgment confirms that you have reviewed, understand, and agree with the statements listed below:...All claims and disputes arising under or relating to this **Agreement** are to be settled by binding arbitration in the State of Washington..." *Id.* (emphasis added). The other bullet-points within the TMA state, inter alia, that Fran Rest maintains the unilateral right to modify the Employee Handbook at any time, with or without notice; that Fran Rest may reduce Whorton's pay rate to minimum wage if she does not give two weeks' notice in advance of leaving her position; and that Whorton's wages will be deducted to compensate for any financial damage caused by her actions. *Id*.

Separately, the Handbook itself—which the parties agree is a "wholly separate and independent" document from the TMA

(see Opinion Affirming Denial, at 7)—contains no separate arbitration clause. See CP at 34-51. In essence, neither the TMA nor the Handbook ever mentioned that Whorton was agreeing to relinquish her right to bring wage-and-hour claims against Fran Rest. *See Burnett*, 196 Wn.2d at 49 (recognizing that an employee must have a reasonable opportunity to understand what they are agreeing to arbitrate, including "the types of claims he was agreeing to arbitrate or to intentionally and voluntarily relinquish his right to pursue those claims in court.") (citation omitted).

Since Fran Rest did not explicitly present to Whorton the waiver of a judicial forum as to employment claims, and since Whorton did not agree to waive the right to a judicial forum as to employment claims, she "cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which [s]he has not agreed so to submit." *Id.* at 51 n.3. *See also P.E. Sys., LLC v. CPI Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 198, 207 (2012) (contract formation requires an objective manifestation of mutual assent of both parties and the terms

assented to must be sufficiently definite); *Nelson v. Cyprus Bagdad Copper Corp.*, 119 F.3d 756, 762 (9th Cir. 1997) ("Any bargain to waive the right to a judicial forum for civil rights claims...in exchange for employment or continued employment must at the least be express: the choice must be explicitly presented to the employee and the employee must explicitly agree to waive the specific right in question.... The right to a judicial forum is not waived even though the Handbook is furnished to the employee and the employee acknowledges its receipt and agrees to read and understand its contents.").

This is precisely, and correctly, what the Court of Appeals decided upon analysis. The Court of Appeals stated that it "interpret[s] the phrase 'arising under' and 'relating to' broadly." See Opinion Affirming Denial, at 6 (citing *David Terry Inv.*, *LLC-PRC v. Headwaters Dev. Grp. Ltd. Liab. Co.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 159, 167 (2020)). It also recognized that the Ninth Circuit has interpreted the language "arising out of or related to" to "encompass any dispute that has 'some logical or causal

connection' to the agreement. *Id.* at 6-7 (citing *Yei A. Sun v. Advanced China Healthcare, Inc.*, 901 F.3d 1081, 1086 (2018)). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals understood that it "must determine whether Whorton's wage claims have some logical or causal connection to the TMA." *Id.* at 7. The Court of Appeals correctly found that Whorton's wage claims do not:

Whorton and Fran Rest did not agree to arbitrate any claim arising under or related to their employment agreement, her employment, and/or her separation from employment. Rather, the parties agreed to arbitrate all claims arising under or related to the TMA. And Whorton's wage claims have no logical or causal connection to any term in the TMA. For example, her claims do not arise from her acknowledgment that she understood the contents of the Handbook, that she is an at-will employee, or that Fran Rest would reduce her pay rate if she failed to give two weeks' notice when leaving her position

Id.

The trial court came to the same conclusion. *See* CP at 168 (denying Fran Rest's Motion, and finding that signing the TMA "did not constitute a knowing agreement to arbitrate all claims and disputes arising under or relating to employment....By its

own terms, the arbitration clause encompasses '[a]ll claims and disputes arising under or relating to this Agreement...,' which can only be reasonably interpreted to refer to the [TMA] and the bullet points therein.").

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Whorton only agreed to arbitrate disputes related to the bulletpoints contained in the TMA itself, including those mentioned there that relate to Fran Rest having the right to: (a) reduce Whorton's pay rate to minimum wage if she does not "give two weeks notice in writing in advance of leaving [her] position"; or (b) Fran Rest's right to deduct Whorton's wages to compensate for any financial loss that is caused by her actions (see CP at 54), but not wage claims for unpaid meal and rest periods. See Opinion Affirming Denial, at 10. The Majority's decision was grounded in and the result of a routine application of wellestablished Washington law to an arbitration agreement that Judge Diaz—in dissent—described as "a pretty poorly written agreement." Id. at 11 (dissent).

Contrary to Fran Rest's assertion that the Court of Appeals "invented new interpretive principles under which an arbitration agreement must not only 'touch' on the lawsuit's subject, but also describe it at length and in detail" (Petition, at 9-10), the Court of Appeals simply interpreted the bullet-point arbitration agreement in the TMA consistent with this Court's holding in *Burnett*, which requires that "the waiver of a judicial forum via an arbitration provision must be explicitly presented to the employee and the employee must explicitly agree to waive the specific right in question." *Burnett*, 196 Wn.2d at 51 n.3. The Court of Appeals' decision is correct, consistent with *Burnett*, and does not warrant discretionary review by this Court.

2) The Cases Cited by Fran Rest do not Conflict with the Court of Appeals' Decision

Fran Rest's assertion that "[t]he Court of Appeals' Majority acknowledged [Washington's presumption favoring arbitration] but suggested it was dead and failed to apply it" (Petition, at 6) misconstrues the Court of Appeals' decision. So

does Fran Rest's assertion that "the Majority took it upon itself, by *footnote*, to end the *federal* presumption favoring arbitration." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

Rather, the Majority cited to Morgan v. Sundance, Inc., 596 U.S. 411, 418 (2022) only to note that "[r]ecent case law suggests that there is no longer a presumption in favor of arbitration under the FAA." Opinion Affirming Denial, at 6 n.3 (citing Armstrong v. Michaels Stores, Inc., 59 F.4th 1011, 1014 (9th Cir. 2023) and quoting *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 418). The Majority then noted that they "agree with the dissent that whether the holding in *Morgan* applies to the WAA is unresolved[,]" but that they do not view this case as "an opportunity to clarify the scope of Washington's public policy in favor of arbitration" in light of Morgan since here, "the TMA does not bind Whorton to arbitrate her wage claims even applying Washington's strong presumption in favor of arbitration." Id. ("As a result, we need not decide whether Morgan applies to the WAA to resolve this appeal[, a]nd we do not issue advisory opinions.") (citing

Howard v. Pinkerton, 26 Wn. App. 2d 670, 678 n.5 (2023)).²

Fran Rest's attempt to analyze and distinguish the opinions of the United States Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in *Morgan* and *Armstrong*, respectively, from the instant action (see Petition, at 6-7) is a red herring, because: (a) the Court of Appeals did apply Washington's presumption favoring arbitration its interpretation of the bullet-point arbitration clause contained in the TMA, and (b) the Courts in *Morgan* and *Armstrong* held that the Federal Arbitration Act's (FAA) policy favoring arbitration does not authorize federal courts to create arbitration-specific procedural rules (i.e., regarding waiver), and there is no arbitration-specific procedural rule at issue in the instant action.

The Majority also correctly noted that the issue of whether this case is an opportunity to clarify the scope of Washington's public policy in favor of arbitration in light of *Morgan* "was not argued before the trial court and was not a factor in the trial court's ruling[, n]or was it argued on appeal[, n]either party briefed the issue and neither party addressed the issue at oral argument." Opinion Affirming Denial, at 6 n.3 ("[W]e should not raise and resolve an issue when the parties have had no opportunity to weigh in."). *See also Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 414 (1994) (recognizing that this Court does not render advisory opinions).

See Morgan, 596 U.S. at 418; Armstrong, 59 F.4th at 1014.

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